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OPENING REMARKS BY CHAIRWOMAN, MRS. JUSTICE WADE-MILLER

CHAIRWOMAN:

Good morning, everyone.  Again, let me say good morning everyone.  On September 8th, 2020, the Commission of Inquiry held its first hearing pertaining to historical land expropriation in Bermuda.  We adjourned to October 19th, 2020 and resume today.  I remind you that the Hon. Premier David Burt established this Commission with investigative, fact-finding and advisory responsibilities in keeping with its overall mandate.  

To those of you joining us for the very first time, I am retired Justice Norma Wade Miller, Chair of the Commission.  I'm aided in this endeavour by Commissioners, the Hon. Wayne Perinchief, Mrs. Maxine Binns, Mrs. Frederica Forth, Mrs. Linda Milligan Whyte, Mr. Jonathan Starling and Mr. Quinton Stovell.  Senior counsel to the Commission is Queen's Counsel Mr. Ivan Whitehall, who resides in Canada.  Due to COVID-19, Mr. Whitehall is forced to join us by Zoom from that location.

He is assisted by local barrister and attorney, Mr. Bruce Swan.  The members of the Secretariat are Permanent Secretary Marva-Jean O'Brien, Clerk to the Commission; Mrs. Alberta Dyer-Tucker, Secretary to the Commission; and Mrs. Alicia Lister.  

I will not reiterate the Commissioners' mandate or Counsel’s opening remarks.  All of this information can be found on the Commission's website at www.historicallandlossescoi.bm.

Before we adjourned on September 8, I made a public service appeal for the voluntary assistance of retired police officers to assist us with the investigation of a number of outstanding claims.  

I am pleased to share that former Superintendent Larry Smith, former Chief Inspector Calvin Smith, former Chief Inspector Ashem Estwick, former Constable Edward Junior Durrant; and retired senior court social worker Mrs. Elaine Charles, have all come forward and volunteered their time and have cleared up some cases and are assisting with the interviews of other claimants.

It is the Commission's aim to interview all claimants and obtain statements from those individuals who will not otherwise be able to provide evidence before hearings are concluded.  I take this opportunity to thank all those retirees who have come to our assistance.

We will now pick up where we left off on September 8th and move straight into the second phase of the inquiry, which is to hear from all witnesses beginning with historians, Drs.  Theodore Francis, Quito Swan and Duncan McDowell.  I will now turn this hearing over to Queen's Counsel, Mr. Whitehall, who will lead the evidence of our first witness, Dr. Francis.  Counsel Whitehall?

DR.  FRANCIS (WITNESS)

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you, Justice.  Good morning, Dr. Francis.  

WITNESS:

Good morning, Counsel Whitehall.  Good morning, Commission members.

SR. COUNSEL:
And good morning, Commissioners.  As to start with Dr. Francis who is appearing as an expert, Madame Chair, I want to qualify him as an expert as follows:  To give opinion evidence relating to events surrounding the expropriation of Tucker's Town and, in particular, the events leading up to the expropriation; the course of the expropriation including relevant legislation or Orders in Council; the structure of the expropriation, for example, notices, timelines, etcetera; the process established to compensate the inhabitants of the expropriated property; and how appropriate compensation was established, the amount of compensation paid, and the impact of the expropriation of… on the families who were expropriated at Tucker's Town.

Now Dr. Francis, you had that qualification available to you previously.  So, you knew that that is the scope of your expert report.  Am I correct?  

WITNESS:

Yes.  That is correct.  

SR. COUNSEL:
Now as normal, Justice Wade Miller, I will start with Dr. Francis' qualifications, and I shall turn to his CV and ask him some questions and then of course he may be as part of the voir dire, which is in case you don't know legalese, it's a hearing within a hearing, he can be cross-examined by counsel appearing for parties who have standing.  

If I may pause for a minute, Justice, do we have on the record counsel who are before the Commission who have received - or parties – who have received standing?  I cannot necessarily see who else is in the room.  So, I wonder who is on the record.

CHAIRWOMAN:
I don't know if they're all here, Counsel, but certainly the Attorney General received standing.  Is anyone here from the Attorney General's Chambers?  And Mr. Adamson of Conyers Dill & Pearman, he received standing on behalf of the Mid-Ocean Club.  And then Mr. Pettingill, is Mr. Pettingill here, received it on behalf of...

SR. COUNSEL:
Tucker’s Town.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Mr. Pettingill isn't here.  And also, Reverend Pastor from the Marsden Church.  Is he here?

SR. COUNSEL:
Pastor Whalen?

CHAIRWOMAN:
Mr. – Pastor Whalen.  Is Pastor Whalen here?  Is he here?  Yes, Pastor Whalen is here, Counsel.  So, the only person who has received standing that is here is Pastor Whalen, but for the record, I've indicated the others who have done so.

SR. COUNSEL:
Well, thank you very much.  That will obviously shorten the cross-examination certainly as the voir dire.  So let me start with your curriculum vitae which you submitted and to start with, you have... you hold a Doctor of Philosophy in Caribbean Atlantic World History from the University of Chicago, received that in 2015?

WITNESS:

Yes, that's correct.  Yes, sir.

SR. COUNSEL:
And previously you received a Master's degree again in Caribbean Atlantic World History also from the University of Chicago.  And that also was granted on the same date, August 15th?

WITNESS:

Yes, indeed.  Yeah, it was a terminal program.  So even though I had completed my Master's studies some years prior to that, the granting of the degree would not be granted until when I received my Ph.D., so that was how that worked out.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Counsel, if I may interject.  At what point would you like Dr. Francis to be sworn as a witness?

SR. COUNSEL:
I'm glad you reminded me.  He should be sworn now.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Okay.  

SR. COUNSEL:
The lighting in my office is not as good as it should be nor is my eye.

(WITNESS, DR.  FRANCIS, IS SWORN IN BY MRS DYER-TUCKER)

CHAIRWOMAN:
Thank you, Counsel.

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you, Justice.  So just to go back, you hold a Ph.D.  from the University of Chicago in Caribbean Atlantic World History.  

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
Okay.  And you also have a B.A. in History from Morehouse College in Atlanta, Georgia.  

WITNESS:

Yes, sir.

SR. COUNSEL:
Now you have a number of relevant publications, I believe.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
Rather than reading your CV which I believe is available to the Commissioners… and I would ask the Clerk to produce the CV… have you identify it and mark it as Exhibit 1 on your examination.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Counsel, that Dr. Francis' CV is marked as Exhibit 1.

SR. COUNSEL:
All right.  And, generally speaking, firstly, are you a Bermudian?

WITNESS:

Yes.  I am.  I was born in Bermuda in 1975.

SR. COUNSEL:
Okay.  Just a young guy.  And have you made it as part of your academic interest, the history of Bermuda?

WITNESS:

Indeed, I have.  My academic studies of Bermuda reach back to my undergraduate study of history.  My senior year paper at Morehouse when I was studying history there was in fact about the 1959 theatre boycott.  

And in fact, I interviewed...he's now passed away now, but Dr. Clifford Maxwell, I interviewed him in the production of a paper about desegregation and that theatre boycott since he was involved with the progressive group.  

So, although I've studied Bermuda and other places in my Master's study as well as in my Ph.D.  study, my formal kind of studying of Bermuda actually reaches back to my undergraduate years.

SR. COUNSEL:
And a point of fact:  in 2019, September, did you publish a paper or a lecture, "Vacations for Liberation:  Bermuda, White Tourism and the Global Politics of Traveling While Black"?

WITNESS:

That was actually a presentation, a paper that I presented.  That was not a publication; that was a paper I presented in the context of trying to just thread some lines of similarity between the issues of segregation and tourism and looking at Bermuda's instances of travel segregation; and in particular, the black-owned  unsegregated tourist industries that developed here on the island.  

So, yes, but that was the scope of that paper.

SR. COUNSEL:
And then you published another paper called "Black Bermudian Fingerprints:  Smuggling, Slavery and Race in the Makings of America" in 2019?

WITNESS:

2019. Yes.  That's correct.  That was in relation to the Maritime Museum...well, rather the Bermuda National Museum's publication and that had connections with some research on the book that I completed with co-authors Dr. Clarence Maxwell and Alexandra Mairs-Kessler, our book, "Prudent Rebels."  So that was a paper that was related to some research we conducted for that book.

SR. COUNSEL:
And you were speaking about tourism.  As far as your work on your tourism, did you come across Professor McDowell's book on tourism in Bermuda?  

WITNESS:

Yes, I did.  His book "Another World," that was familiar to me.  Also, he wrote a couple of articles about Tucker's Town and tourism in general in Bermuda or tourism and racism, I think.  He wrote a few articles on that for other publications.  But yes, I remember reading his work, in particular as I was completing my dissertation.

SR. COUNSEL:
Now, fair to say that he's a well-respected scholar and a historian?

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
Perfect.  And now as part of your preparation for this hearing, did you then study Tucker's Town in particular so as to prepare a presentation?

WITNESS:

Yes, I did.  In conjunction with my initial proposal that I submitted to the Commission of Inquiry, I outlined a research brief in conjunction with another professor, Professor Dr. Quito Swan and we outlined an extensive research brief that included segments on Tucker's Town, which I was going to address and a segment on the U.S. bases which Dr. Swan would address.  

So, in response to that, yes.  We just took our respective areas of it and I focused, for my portion of this work, on Tucker's Town and the surrounding area.  Yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:
And would I be correct in saying that the paper you produced is, in fact, your work?

WITNESS:

Yes, you would be correct in saying that.
SR. COUNSEL:
And the opinions expressed in that paper are your opinions?

WITNESS:

Yes.  Those are my findings, yes, based on the research I conducted.

SR. COUNSEL:
Now, I'm going to ask you just before we produce the report, I'm going to ask if there's any...those are my questions, Madame Chair, on the qualifications of Dr. Swan, or Dr. Francis.  I wonder if any of the parties with standing have any questions and, if not, then I will submit that Dr. Francis be qualified to give expert evidence as set out in the qualification I read out earlier.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Does anyone wish to ask...anyone with standing wishes to ask a question of Mr....of Dr. Theodore Francis?  I know that we don't have anyone with standing actually here other than Pastor Marsden.  But I don't know if anyone has joined us on -electronically – but do you have any questions for Dr. Francis?

SR. COUNSEL:
On qualification.  

CHAIRWOMAN:
Sorry?

SR. COUNSEL:
At this point, we are in the voir dire, so it would be limited to his qualifications.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Right.  No, Doctor...Pastor does not have any questions, Counsel.

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you.  So, may I submit then that Dr. Francis be qualified as an expert to give evidence on the topics that I've set out earlier.  I don't want to read it again.  Madame Chair, could I have a ruling, please?

CHAIRWOMAN:
Yes, just one moment, Counsel.  I'm just making...

SR. COUNSEL:
I can't...

CHAIRWOMAN:
Sorry?

SR. COUNSEL:
I can't see what you're doing so...

CHAIRWOMAN:
I'm just writing.  Sorry, making a note.  I speak on behalf of each Commissioner, having heard Counsel... having regard to Counsel's application that Dr. Francis be ordered as having the expertise to give expert evidence in relation to the points listed by him, which is a matter of record, I am satisfied that Dr. Francis is qualified to give the evidence and it is appropriate for the needs of this Commission of Inquiry.  I so order.

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you.  All right.  Now let us...let us now proceed to your expert report and I'm not certain what is the best way.  I know what I would do if I were there in person and you were there in person.  I would hand you the expert report and have you identify it.  

Now, I wonder if the Commission Secretary can screen share and put up the expert report so that Dr. Francis and I may have sight of it and particularly turn to the certification on the expert report so that we can identify the report as his.

CHAIRWOMAN:
That is being done as you... as we listen here, Counsel.  I think the technician is organising that for us.

SR. COUNSEL:
Wonderful.  

CHAIRWOMAN:
Are you able to see that, Dr. Francis and Counsel?

WITNESS:

Yes, I see.

SR. COUNSEL:
Yes, I can.  Now, can we turn to the first page of that report?  Now, just before we do, is that your signature, Dr. Francis?

WITNESS:

Yes, it is, Counsel.

SR. COUNSEL:
I don't think I can manipulate it from here, so.  That's the certification, it says 1 of 1.

WITNESS:

Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
There we go.  And I'm not going to go through all at this time, all of your report, but can you identify the first page and the last page of the report?  And I think that's probably the best we can do.

WITNESS:

They showed me the signature page.  They have showed me the first page; I agree that is my work.  Yes, that looks like my report, the first page of it, yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
And without going through each and every... let me just go through the process.  Did you upload your report to the web?  

WITNESS:

Yes...

SR. COUNSEL:
Did you put it in a drop box?

WITNESS:

Yes, I did and I also sent it via email.

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.  And so, therefore you sent your report to the Commission and I take it as given that what the Commission is producing is your report as you submitted it.  

WITNESS:

Yes.  Yes, this is my report.

SR. COUNSEL:
Justice, on that basis, may the report of Dr. Francis be marked as Exhibit 2 on his examination?

CHAIRWOMAN:
Very well.  Dr. Francis' report is hereby entered as Exhibit 2.

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you.  Now as part of your report, sir, in your footnotes, you refer to a number of sources for the purposes of establishing the facts as they set... as they are set up in your report.  And I'm drawing a distinction, if you understand, between the facts and opinion based on the facts.  

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
And as I understand as you were instructed, the source of the facts are identified in your footnotes.  

WITNESS:

Yes, they are.

SR. COUNSEL:
Okay.  And if my memory serves me, there are 47 footnotes to your paper.  

WITNESS:

In fact, there are a few more, Counsel.  However, the listing of the documents that I placed on the shared drop box that was available to the Commissioner – to the Commission rather - I believe that number is... give me a quick moment just to confirm, I have... sorry.  

SR. COUNSEL:
Do you have your report?  

WITNESS:

Yes.  I have my report.  My report actually lists 116 footnotes in terms of individual citations based on the paper.  However, some of those do reflect the same source might have been cited a number of times, so I cannot have an exact count for that.  I can provide you one if you need be, but some of the same documents are cited a number of times.  

Also in the context of the report, there are a number of what we will call secondary sources or things that are kind of public domain, you know, ordinary books you can purchase from a local bookstore or library.  

So those I did not necessarily include in the report.  What I did include as far as my listing of documents that I uploaded for the Council were documents from... whether it was archival sources, such as the Bermuda Archive, or overseas or online archives and university libraries, those kinds of documents is what were uploaded, not every single book that I made reference to.  

SR. COUNSEL:
Okay.  Well, I have your... let me go to the very bottom of your report which may take me a little time.  

WITNESS:

Not a problem.  

SR. COUNSEL:
When I was preparing for your examination, I had 47 references.  

WITNESS:

Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
Am I wrong?

WITNESS:

I'm not sure what you're referring to.  So, I just need to know...

SR. COUNSEL:
All right.  Fair enough.  Let's see if I can do what I was going to do.

WITNESS:

Yes, sir.

SR. COUNSEL:
You have the number of footnotes; you're quite right, far exceed 47.  

WITNESS:

Yes, sir.  

SR. COUNSEL:
Your last footnote is 116.

WITNESS:

Yes, my last footnote is placed on page 89 of my document and it was yes, as you said, 116… footnote No. 116.  As I said that might reflect the fact that I have cited one document a couple of times so that, of course, increases the tally count of the actual footnotes.  

And as I said earlier, the documents which were uploaded to the Council's shared kind of document box – drop box rather – were, like I said, primary documents, library... not library, yeah, primary documents, university library sources, Bermuda archival documents, which was the primary bulk of where I got most of these sources from.  

So those were the types of things I placed up there, not necessarily the page of, for example, I quote from – or I cite rather – Cyril Packwood “Chained on the Rock”, which is a commonly available book about the history of Bermuda.  So, I cite from that, so I do not include a chapter or a passage from that because that's commonly available in Bermuda.  

However, a document such as the Mid-Ocean – the Mid-Ocean Club's initial advertising booklet, which was published in 1924… I do upload a document such as that, yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
All right.  Let's draw a distinction then.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
I take when you refer to other academic’s books, you may not cite that as a source of your factual findings.

WITNESS:

Yeah, it's tricky to say that I do not cite them as a source of my factual findings.  As a historian, I guess I have a tendency to cite a lot even when I'm talking about the context of a situation.  Yes, the back history of Bermuda.  So, I often times will cite for that.  

However, in terms of the document evidence about Tucker's Town, those documents that I'm drawing from whether it's dispatch between, for example, the Governor or between Bermuda Development Company executives and the Governor, I include those letters.  If it's a case or a report of the actual expropriation as it was reported at the time in 1920 or 1921 by the newspaper of the time, I include those in the... in the report.  So, the documents that you're mentioning, that 47 or the number you quoted, those...that’s what would be included in that listing of documents.

SR. COUNSEL:
So the 47, right, so the 47, and if you can confirm that indeed it is 47 that you uploaded, those are... if you can draw the distinction between the factual matrix that informed the expropriation at Tucker's Town as opposed to the broad discussion about the history of Bermuda, or slavery in Bermuda, or the nature of the relationship between... I'll call it white leadership or the merchants class or the politicians of the day.  Those are broad discussions.

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
They don't necessarily pertain to Tucker's Town except indirectly.

WITNESS:

In general, yes, but I don't want to go too far on the indirectly part because I think sometimes they do inform how we think about it and how we reach our conclusions about Tucker's Town.  

However, to kind of settle this, like I said the findings that I make, if I tell you that a number, a person's name or, you know, someone of a particular name lost land, that is referenced by a primary document and it would be included in that collection of documents that you're referring to.  

However, as you said, the broader discussion or the contextual discussion of Bermuda, its politics, the kind of nature of the racial system or the racial discrimination in Bermuda or the political situation in Bermuda, those are informed by those other kinds of books like Cyril Packwood's book, as I mentioned previously, and other books that are cited in the report.

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.  So, let's... let me just push it a touch further if I may?
WITNESS:

Sure.

SR. COUNSEL:
When we talk about what actually happened as part of the expropriation, those sources would have been referenced in the roughly 47 documents you uploaded.  

When we talk about the background, the political and socioeconomic context in which those events took place, they may be informed by other books and studies that you footnoted, but did not necessarily upload in your paper?

WITNESS:

Yes.  I think that would be a correct description of what is taking place, Counsel.  Yes, I would agree with that.  And just while I may, I'm looking at the list of documents that I have uploaded for Counsel, and I actually have a count of... I have... I'm looking at a count of 61, hang on.   

I'm looking at a tally of 63; mind you, I did submit a couple this weekend.  So that might have been what escaped your... the number that you quote.  So, but I'm looking at a total on the drop box as I'm looking at it live right now, I have 63 documents listed up there under Tucker's Town.  

SR. COUNSEL:
Unfortunately...

WITNESS:

And, like I said, that might have just been something that slipped in after you made your line and you were taking your notes.

SR. COUNSEL:
It's difficult to prepare for an examination if I don't have all of your documents and I can tell you that even the ones I've had, at times I had some difficulty opening them and certainly some difficulty reading them because, for example, reports from the Royal Gazette, you kind of go blind trying to read it.  They are very small print, not very clear document and I think I will have to ask you some questions because you had it in your hands whereas I only had it electronically.  

But let me then ask and we can provide, in fact, I will ask right now to provide you with a list of the 47 documents that I had access to and I would like you to tell me what are the additional, you say 63, so that would be an additional 16 documents that you uploaded over the weekend.  So, can you look at the list as we have it and advise me what else was uploaded that I did not have the benefit of reading?

WITNESS:

Sure.  Can you submit the list as you have it, or – so I can just cross reference looking at the drop box screen or is that possible right now?  

SR. COUNSEL:
I'm asking the Secretariat to put it on the screen.  

WITNESS:

Okay.  Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Would you be kind enough to repeat your request, Counsel, so that we understand?

SR. COUNSEL:
Yes, I had from Mrs. Lister a list of the documents that were uploaded as of, I dare say, yesterday afternoon or whenever the Secretariat had last chance.  I mean they don't necessarily work; unfortunately, they had to work on the weekend.  But theoretically they should have been able to do this certainly by Friday eve.  

So, but because documents kept coming in, I know that they were working on the weekend as well.  So Mrs. Lister was good enough to prepare for me a list of documents and when I've looked, I counted 47.  So, I wonder if Mrs. Lister could put up on the screen...

CHAIRWOMAN:
Yes, I know that she's speaking to local counsel giving him some instructions.  Perhaps local counsel could tell us what the position is.  

SR. COUNSEL:
Yes.  Well, let me go to my screen share and see if I can find it.  Okay?

CHAIRWOMAN:
Would you... would you please, Counsel?

SR. COUNSEL:
I shall.  I may lose you altogether.  If I do, send out the police and they'll find... they'll know where to find me.

CHAIRWOMAN:
I believe Mr. Swan is going to speak now.  Go ahead, Mr. Swan.

JR. COUNSEL:
Yes, Counsel, I understand that the documents that Dr. Francis uploaded were done this morning and they have not been put into an order whereby we can determine what the 47 documents were that you already had access to versus the additional documentation that was submitted this morning.

SR. COUNSEL:
Well, I'm trying to find, frankly, what I had on the weekend.  

WITNESS:

Right.  

SR. COUNSEL:
Because there's obviously a delta between what I had and what has now been uploaded and I just want to make sure two things.  One, that I know what I was referring to and what are the additional documents that I did not have available when I was preparing for this examination.

JR. COUNSEL:
Counsel, what might assist I guess in the interim, Dr. Francis, do you have a listing of what you submitted this morning?

WITNESS:

Hold on for a moment.  Let me look.  Hang on.

JR. COUNSEL:
Because that may assist if we can just determine what you had submitted and that may help Counsel know what additional documents we have.  Would that assist, Counsel?

WITNESS:

That makes...yeah, that makes sense, however, okay, what might do is...hang on.  Can I maybe show you what I have a list of and probably go from there?  Because I have the drop box open right now.  The documents that were uploaded as I said, there were not new documents per se.  

They were all documents which were referenced and or footnoted in my report.  However, let us look at a few of these.  Yes, okay.  So, in response to your question, Mr. Swan... or is it Counsel Swan?  Forgive me if I'm incorrect.  Please let me know, sir.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Counsel is muted at the moment with his ear plugs on, so if you give him a few minutes please.  

WITNESS:

Oh, not a problem.  I was attempting to reply to Mr. Swan.  

JR. COUNSEL:
Yes, I guess it could be Counsel Swan, Dr. Francis.  That's fine.

WITNESS:

Okay.  Counsel Swan, are you in a position to just make a notation because you had asked me a question as far as to relay the list of documents that I uploaded recently, or in between the time when Counsel had prepared his list vis-à-vis the listing that I have reported on the shared drop box – because I believe we can all access the shared drop box, yeah?

JR. COUNSEL:
Yes.

WITNESS:

Or no?
SR. COUNSEL:
It’s a challenge for me, but everybody else can do it.

JR. COUNSEL:
Yes, Dr. Francis, I'm looking at the Secretariat and they do have it up and you can go ahead.  I’m ready to copy down what you indicate.  

WITNESS:

Okay.  I'm just taking it as far as how it's represented on my screen position from me, but you will see a document labelled "TT00 Electorate Political Franchise Bluebook for Bermuda 1919," TT00, that's the kind of reference number that I was utilising.

JR. COUNSEL:
Sure.

WITNESS:

Electorate Political Franchise Bluebook for Bermuda 1919.

JR. COUNSEL:
Yes, sir.

WITNESS:

Below that is TT00 Royal Gazette March 9, 1920, TT00 Royal Gazette March 9th, 1920.  Laura Bluck, Letter Against Compulsory Purchases; Laura Bluck, Letter Against Compulsory Purchases.

JR. COUNSEL:
Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
Is that Royal, R-O-Y-A-L?

WITNESS:

Yes, Royal Gazette, March 9th, 1920.

SR. COUNSEL:
No.  You said the letter...whose letter is that?

WITNESS:

Laura Bluck, Letter Against Compulsory Purchases.

SR. COUNSEL:
Laura.

WITNESS:

Yes.  Sorry, Laura Bluck, L-A-U-R-A.

SR. COUNSEL:
Yes, sir.

WITNESS:

Laura Bluck.  

SR. COUNSEL:
And what's the date of that letter?

WITNESS:

March 9th, 1920.  I reference that in the latter portion of the document when I talk about ideas of resistance and examples of resistance or opposition towards the project.

SR. COUNSEL:
Okay.

WITNESS:

That is referenced on page 83 of the report.  

SR. COUNSEL:
All right.  

WITNESS:

Or that's the basis of the comment that I make on page 83.  I'm not sure if I cite it on page 83, but that is the basis for the comment that I make on page 83.

JR. COUNSEL:
Okay, sir.

WITNESS:

Just in terms of looking at documents which were uploaded most recently, once again scrolling down again to... now, I'm scrolling down to… hang on.  

You want... quick question, Mr. Swan, just as far as a point of clarification, Counsel Swan…  everything from yesterday as well as early this morning, or just early this morning?

SR. COUNSEL:
Well, the last number I had was at TT47.

WITNESS:

Okay.  Well, I'll take you from TT48, Counsel Whitehall, and if that gels with your plans as well, Counsel Swan, please let me know, or if you need me to do something different, Counsel Swan, let me before I start reciting off this list.

JR. COUNSEL:
That's perfectly fine because that's where we're trying to link up the list.  So that's perfectly fine.  Go ahead from 48.  

WITNESS:

Okay.  Well moving from 48, TT48 Royal Gazette September 27th, 1921.

SR. COUNSEL:
I’m sorry.  What was the date?

WITNESS:

September 27, 1921.

SR. COUNSEL:
1921.  Thank you.

WITNESS:

And that's page one and page six.  So I repeat the same number and it's the same date but it's page one of that document is the first thing you'll see on TT48 and then TT48 again representing the same Royal Gazette, however it's page 6 where the article concludes.

JR. COUNSEL:
... grateful.

WITNESS:

Moving on number 49.  We have Sir Frederick Lewis to Governor Asser, Sir Frederick Lewis to Governor Asser, and Asser is spelled A-S-S-E-R.  Sir Frederick Lewis to Governor Asser, August 15, 1923, and that was from the Bermuda Development Company General Purposes Folder number three.  Document 49 is Sir Frederick Lewis to Governor Asser, August 15, 1923, Bermuda Development Company General Purposes 
Folder Number Three.

JR. COUNSEL:
Sorry, Dr. Francis, one more time, the date, August 23rd 19… ?
WITNESS:

August 15th, August 15th, Counsel Swan, 1923, 1-9-2-3, is the year.

JR. COUNSEL:
What's that?

WITNESS:

I said 1-9-2-3 is the year.

JR. COUNSEL:
Yes, sir.

SR. COUNSEL: 
And what does that reference to?

WITNESS:

That, in fact, references... I use that document a couple of times.  I reference it in terms of, holf on really quickly, hold on for a moment.  That references page 26, footnote 36 in the actual report, TT49, Sir Frederick Lewis to Governor Asser is utilised – or mentioned – on page 26 of my report and it is footnote number 36.

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

WITNESS:

Are we clear to continue, because I don't want to...

SR. COUNSEL:
Yes, of course.

JR. COUNSEL:
Clear to continue.

WITNESS:

Okay.  TT50, document 50, Watlington and Conyers, agents for FWC, and that was my shorthand for Furness Withy Company, Watlington Conyers, Watlington Conyers, agents for FWC, that is Furness Withy Corporation – or Company – to Sir T.J.  Wadson, Speaker of the House of Assembly.  

So, it is document 50, Watlington Conyers, agents for FWC to Sir T.J.  Wadson, Speaker of the House.  The date is May 28, 1920.  So that is Watlington Conyers, agents for FWC to Sir T.J.  Wadson, Speaker of the House, May 28, 1920.

SR. COUNSEL:
And footnote?

WITNESS:

That references, hold on for a moment, that references page 46 of the report and that is footnote number 64.  Document 50 is represented in footnote number 64 on page 46 of the actual report.

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you.

JR. COUNSEL:
Continue.

WITNESS:

Okay, thank you.  I'm sorry.  I lost my place with my cursor.  Give me a quick movement.

JR. COUNSEL:
Okay.  We should be on 51 now?
WITNESS:

Yes, we are.  Okay 51, 51 here we go, Debates of the House of  Assembly, July 1920.  Specifically, number 51 is debates of the House of Assembly, July 1950 - I'm sorry, July 1920.  Mercy, why did I say 1950?  July 1920.

SR. COUNSEL:
That's all right.  

WITNESS:

Excuse me.  And that is the reading of the Tucker's Town residents' petition, July 28, 1920.

SR. COUNSEL:
And the footnote, sir?
WITNESS:

Debates of the House of Assembly in July 1920.

SR. COUNSEL:
The footnote?

WITNESS:

Oh, the footnote, hold on for a moment.  Just scanning.  It represents... it's on page 52, represents footnote number 72.  

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you.

WITNESS:

It's on page 52 of the report, represented by footnote 72.  That yes, that looks like what I have.  Okay.  Let me just escape from here really quick and see if that lines up with what I have.  That's what I'm doing right now.  54 table, 55, Bermuda Recorder, 56, yes, 56A, letter to the Mid Ocean, yes, 57, debates, yes.  

JR. COUNSEL:
Dr. Francis, you see on this screen that we now have the drop box available for you.  

WITNESS:

Yes, I'm seeing it and in fact, I'm comparing what you have on one screen to my screen with the drop box because I believe it looks correct as... if you wouldn't mind possibly just maybe scrolling down just a little bit further on your screen just to ensure that my documents 58 through following line up with what I also have and if not, I think... if so, that will be good.

JR. COUNSEL:
Okay.  The technician is doing that for you now.

WITNESS:

All right.  Thank you for your patience.  

JR. COUNSEL:
No problem.  We want to work together and get this sorted out.

WITNESS:

Cool.  

SR. COUNSEL:
And Mr. Swan?

JR. COUNSEL:
Yes, Counsel?

SR. COUNSEL:
I'm trying to... I'm looking at my witness list that I have that was sent to me by Mrs. Lister, and when I said 47, I may have been overly optimistic, but I see the date these were received.  Can you go back and see what was uploaded either – or anywhere – from Saturday on?

JR. COUNSEL:
Yes, Counsel.

SR. COUNSEL:
Please.  Because I see the modified date would indicate when the document was uploaded.

JR. COUNSEL:
Mrs. Lister is just working with the technician now, Counsel and Dr. Francis.

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you.

WITNESS:

Thank you.  

JR. COUNSEL:
All right.  Counsel and Dr. Francis, you see what we have?

SR. COUNSEL:
Yeah, I see …
WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
... TT1 that came up yesterday.  Did you upload, Dr. Francis, anything on Saturday?

WITNESS:

I'm sure I did.  I can look... give me a moment to just look back at my screen to just go by the date listing.  Yes?

SR. COUNSEL:
Yes.  Thank you.  

WITNESS:

No problem.  

SR. COUNSEL:
Perhaps, Mrs. Lister could also look because that goes to yesterday and we have number one, number 31, 46, 36, 37, 35, 32, so obviously, I did not have 47 and when I looked at my list, in fact, it was much fewer than the 47.  It was more like 23 – or 23 – yes.  The last one I have from Mrs. Lister is the petition from Furness Withy and preceded by the Royal Gazette, February 26, preceded by TT21 November 1, 1919.  So, there's a huge gap between what the Commission now has and what I had available to me when I was preparing my work.

JR. COUNSEL:
Yes, Counsel.  Just spoke with Mrs. Lister, we confirmed that yes, everything...you had everything as of the 15th of October date and then some more documents came in between the 17th and yesterday, the 18th and this morning, the 19th.

SR. COUNSEL:
What kind of volume are we talking about?  I mean it looks like I'm missing two-thirds of the documents.

JR. COUNSEL:
That's about correct, Counsel.  We'll just confirm right now the exact number for you.

WITNESS:

Okay.  Counsel, we have just counted, and it looks like 43 documents were added between Saturday and this morning at 3:00 a.m.  Counsel?

SR. COUNSEL:
Yes, I just heard you.

WITNESS:

Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
All right.  Well, thank you.  Justice, may I address the Inquiry?

CHAIRWOMAN:
Go ahead, please Counsel.

SR. COUNSEL:
I'm prepared... obviously in preparing an expert's examination, and I speak not just for myself, I also speak for parties with standing, you must have the documents the expert relies on as the underpinnings for his report.  

And that can only happen in this world, since we are living electronically, if those documents are uploaded in a timely fashion, that allows firstly the Secretariat to organize it for the Commissioners and for Commission Counsel and for Commission Counsel to consider them for the purposes of his examination.  

CHAIRWOMAN:
Counsel...

SR. COUNSEL:
Right now, to compare it to a baker, it's like working with a loaf of bread that's missing the flour.  And likewise, the Commissioners who have a bundle of documents are affectively missing two thirds of the documents referred to in the report because those documents were not uploaded until this weekend.  

And, obviously, the Secretariat couldn't prepare it for you if they didn't have it until effectively this morning.

CHAIRWOMAN:
So, Counsel, can we recess then and have this dealt with?

SR. COUNSEL:
Well, it's going to take... what I was going to suggest, you know, and I'm conscious of time, I already, as you know, wrote to Dr. Swan this morning suggesting that his examination will have to be adjourned because, like Dr. Francis, I don't believe he has yet uploaded all of the documents.  

I can go ahead and do as much as I can examining Dr. Francis this morning reserving the right to have him recalled after I have had a chance.  That's one way to go it.  The other one is simply adjourn for about a week so that the documents can be prepared both for the Commission and for me.  

Because what's going to happen when I ask Dr. Francis a question this morning, he will say, oh well, you should have looked at Exhibit Number 42, that's where the information comes from and I will feign surprise because I haven't seen Exhibit 40... whatever, 47, and then we are going to have a discussion that's purely uneven.  So...

CHAIRWOMAN:
Counsellor, I'm trying to work out the better course.  You have made the suggestion that perhaps we could go ahead with the examination of Dr. Francis and then ask for him to have him recalled with any gaps.  Dr. Francis?
SR. COUNSEL:
Just before...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Are you there?

SR. COUNSEL:
... just before, Dr....

WITNESS:

Yes.  Yes, I'm still here.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
Just before Dr....

WITNESS:

Counsellor, wait, let me...

SR. COUNSEL:
... Francis' responds...

CHAIRWOMAN:
If we proceed and we need to recall you… if we proceed and we need to recall you, you will be available at short notice?

WITNESS:

I can make myself available, yes, I can.  

CHAIRWOMAN:
Right.

WITNESS:

You know it depends on what short notice, of course, means, but yes, I can make myself available.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Short notice means very short, within a day.

SR. COUNSEL:
Yeah.  Well, Justice, what will happen, I...

WITNESS:

Okay, thank you for the clarification.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
I can proceed with my examination and if it transpires that Dr. Francis is referring to other documents and if I had the benefit of that other document, I would have a – or the Commission – would have a more complete picture...

WITNESS:

[coughing] Excuse me.

SR. COUNSEL:
... then, what I suggest we do, we take note of that.  I will have to have the verbatim transcript available to me and the documents...

CHAIRWOMAN:
The transcribers are here, yes?  And they...

SR. COUNSEL:
So, I will have to have the transcript, the document, and I will then consider whether further examination is necessary in order to create a complete picture for the Commission.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Indeed.

SR. COUNSEL:
Obviously I cannot examine on a document that I do not have.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Well, Counsel, may I suggest that you proceed with your cross-examination and, in the event we meet a brick wall, then at that stage we can adjourn – recess, yes?

SR. COUNSEL:
Very well.  I mean, it's not cross-examination.  I'm really just examining in chief but I'm trying to create a context...

CHAIRWOMAN:
Indeed.

SR. COUNSEL:
... for some of the statements that are...

CHAIRWOMAN:
Indeed.

SR. COUNSEL:
... being made in the paper and as I – and it does not – appears that I'm missing two-thirds of the...

CHAIRWOMAN:
Exhibits.

SR. COUNSEL:
...other pieces, and that's a lot.

CHAIRWOMAN:
I certainly appreciate your position and...

SR. COUNSEL:
Let's try to do the best we can.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
And it will unfold as it will.  But...

(Pause.)

CHAIRWOMAN:
Yes, Counsel, I've canvassed Commissioners and they are happy for you to proceed.  We are all happy for you to proceed and see where it takes us.

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you.  I wonder, Dr. Francis, if you could turn...

WITNESS:

Yeah?
SR. COUNSEL:
... to page 12...

WITNESS:

Of...

SR. COUNSEL:
... of your report.  I think this may be pretty common ground for Bermudians...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
… but you made mention of the fact that a number of leading merchants...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... bankers and other men of commerce, and I take by that – but back then it was mostly men …

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
...as opposed to women...

WITNESS:

Yes?
SR. COUNSEL:
...just again reflects that we are talking about a hundred years ago.

WITNESS:

At least, yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
And those people, if I can suggest, dominated the social, political and commercial landscape.

DR.  FRANCIS:
 Yes, that's correct.  There's a question or...

SR. COUNSEL:
Well, no, that is a question, that you agree with me that that was a group of males, for the most part …

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
…who, as the world unfolded for the past 2- or 300 years, up to 1920, effectively dominated the social, political and commercial sphere of Bermuda.

WITNESS:

Yes, that would be an accurate assessment, yes.  

SR. COUNSEL:
And may I suggest to you, and I'm sure that you've done some comparative work …

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
…if you compared Bermuda to other countries, other than the Soviet Union, but we are not going to consider for a moment because they had a revolution there.  What we see in Bermuda is really not that unusual in terms of a variety of countries - commerce, economic power, political power tends to be concentrated in a relatively few hands.

WITNESS:

Yes.  I'm sorry, are you... ?
SR. COUNSEL:
Yes, no...

WITNESS:

...I just want to...

SR. COUNSEL:
...please finish your answer.

WITNESS:

Yeah, without trying to go too far afield, in respect with Bermuda, we do see... the point that I was making on page 12 and those surrounding pages was to speak similarly to what you described, the ways in which power was concentrated within the hands of few individuals.  And I think the point that I was making in those pages or the page or the pages, the page you identified and the...

SR. COUNSEL:
Correct.

WITNESS:

... surrounding pages was that in terms of Bermuda what we want to speak of is particular or distinct about Bermuda is the level of continuity, right, because we can talk about the generic flows or generic concentrations of wealth and political power and social influence being concentrated in the hands of largely, as you said, men of upper class standing in this time period.  And by this time period I'm speaking about the late 19th and early 20th centuries.  

However, what we find is unique or distinct about Bermuda is the degree to which that concentration represents a continuity from the previous era of enslavement or pre-emancipation to the post-emancipation period.  And we speak about that largely through the ways in which emancipation was handled in Bermuda by the ruling class of that time, the ways in which things, technology such as the landed franchise were intensified and other factors which seek to maintain that more so than just simply allow it to be a vestige of a kind of by-gone era.

SR. COUNSEL:
Well, if I suggested to you, that essentially these families...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
… constituted the aristocracy of Bermuda, I suggest to you I wouldn't be too far off.

WITNESS:

No, I agree.  You would not be too far off.  You do have... the families I mentioned such as the Astwood family, Butterfield family, Coopers, Coxs, Britts, Goslings, and other families, Trimingham and other families such as that were listed and those were identified by other writers on Bermuda politics like Frank Manning, who wrote a book on Bermuda politics.  Even Walton Brown who has now passed and Walton Brown Jr., he wrote a book about Bermuda politics and he identified some of the same groups of white families who have held influence in Bermuda's politics as well as its economic life before the ending of slavery and right on through the 19th century and into the early 20th century, in Bermuda's both political realm and its commercial realm.

SR. COUNSEL:
And it's really not terribly surprising because the way societies organise generally they’re those people who are in economic and/or political power are reluctant to give up their power.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.  Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
And I’d suggest to you that the 20th century really was a century that demonstrated the advance of democracy, which...

CHAIRWOMAN:
Counsellor...

SR. COUNSEL:
... tended to...yes?
CHAIRWOMAN:
May I need to interject.  I see that Dr. Francis' nods and that sort of thing but Dr. Francis, we can't see the nod.  When I say we I can see it but, you know, the stenographers and so on...

SR. COUNSEL:
Correct.

CHAIRWOMAN:
... so if you give a verbal response, please?
SR. COUNSEL:
Right.  Thank you, Judge.

WITNESS:

Okay, thank you...

SR. COUNSEL:
...would you...

WITNESS:

...Coun-...

SR. COUNSEL:
...when you agree would you just simply say yes and when you disagree...

WITNESS:

Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
... just so no.  Okay, so...

WITNESS:

Okay, sure.

SR. COUNSEL:
...so.

WITNESS:

Sure.  But it sounded like you were making a broader point, that's why I was just kind of nodding along until I...

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

WITNESS:

... I kind of heard a question being posed, that's all.

SR. COUNSEL:
My question is, those people who are in economic power don't willingly give up their economic power.

WITNESS:

Usually.  That's usually the case.  We find that that's more typical, yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
And those people who are in political power generally don't willingly give up their power and, indeed even in a democracy, they have to be voted out of office.

WITNESS:

Yeah, typically.  Yeah, typically.

SR. COUNSEL:
And you would agree with me that really what the 20th century saw was a progressive movement of democracies where the way you acquired power changed from... became more transparent, if you will, through the ballot box.

WITNESS:

That's a bit of a contestable claim.  I am going just relate back to Bermuda.  We can see that there are two forces at work.  I would just complicate that slightly by saying there are two forces at work.  There's a force in the post-emancipation century marking from about 1834 in the context of Bermuda, we like to… historians think about it as a long post-emancipation century that really reaches into the '60s and what you see is two forces at work.  You see a force that is more so thinking about maintaining and reproducing a kind of limited notion of democratic franchise, or at least kind of suffrage, as well as those who are challenging that in various ways.  

So, while in a broad sweep of history, we can say, yes, you're making an accurate point to talk about the expansion of that, of democracy and/or of kind of these secular notions of freedom.  We've got to recognize in the context of Bermuda as we look at the terrain in Bermuda, it's active attempts to really limit that, right?  And even in the context of Bermuda in the 1960s when people are saying well, let's get rid of the landed franchise, it's not really until I believe '68 that you really have an election without the plus vote, right?  That, you know, land-owners getting additional vote, etc., etc., based on landed franchise.  

So I think the thing we've got to really keep in mind is the ways in which you have two forces at work, right?  And if we make too broad a characterisation we might think that this is... the winds of change are blowing all in one direction when we actually have to realise that there's kind of two opposing forces and at different moments of history – different periods – one may have more influence vis-à-vis than the other and we'd have to kind of zoom in historically to know which has more influence at what point in time.

SR. COUNSEL:
But ultimately, we are dealing with a progression movement?
WITNESS:

Yeah, you have forces for progression, but you also have forces for the retention of that that's...

SR. COUNSEL:
Well, yes.

WITNESS:

... why I kind of, you know...

SR. COUNSEL:
Which is typically those who are...

WITNESS:

... a bit of….
SR. COUNSEL:
...in power resisting giving up the power.

WITNESS:

Mm.  Mm.

SR. COUNSEL:
And I suggest to you that that's not unique to Bermuda.  One can rather generalise both the Bermuda, Britain, Hungary, Poland, you name it...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... that's the condition of mankind, if you will.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm, mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
You say yes?

WITNESS:

In a general sense, yes, but I'm still reserving that thing about the tension of it because I don't want to get too far into an over sweeping ...

SR. COUNSEL:
Well...

WITNESS:

...of saying it's going one way, vis-à-vis the other.

SR. COUNSEL:
Yeah.

WITNESS:

I think...

SR. COUNSEL:
I don't really...yeah.  I... I don't re-... sorry I cut you off.

WITNESS:

Okay.  No, I was saying I think sometimes as a historian it's challenging because while to make those broad sweeps I can kind of see the frame from which you're making that broad sweep, but when we pull that in to very specific localities and times, like you said, it might... we can find parallel examples in other places.  We're seeing those forces maybe not at work or less at work in different spaces and in different points of time.  So,I just want us to at least recognise the undulating nature of that, the ways in which it's not just solely in one direction.

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.  But I will simply then say that, what we are dealing with in 1920...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... is a form of Bermudian aristocracy.

WITNESS:

By and large, yes.  By and large, yes.  You have a number...

SR. COUNSEL:
And then I was...

WITNESS:

... of individuals who feel they have entitlement to this power. and some may actually have had family members in the Houses of Assembly or in high political office...

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

WITNESS:

...for numbers of years, so yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
And they acquired their wealth in a variety of ways, and I don't think we need to go in as to just how they acquired their wealth, but they acquired wealth.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
Okay.  And again...

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
... it is not unusual, particularly in the 1920s, that those with wealth also had a relationship to people with political power.

WITNESS:

Yes, that makes sense.  Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
Yeah.  But at the same time in Bermuda, am I not correct, there was a legislative assembly?

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
Yeah.

WITNESS:

There were.

SR. COUNSEL:
And I hear you, election to the assembly was property based, that is you had to have a certain amount of landed property...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
...in order to stand for office or to vote.  

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
Am I correct?

WITNESS:

Yes, that is correct.  And with respect to that, not even just a certain amount of property to zoom in on it.  For one, you had to have a certain amount of property assessed at a certain value so therefore it wasn't just simply the holding of property but it was also the fact that it was your property assessed by a group of assessors...

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

WITNESS:

... largely white man, who were of the same kind of aristocracy as you framed them, would be making these assessments.  So, it was even the challenge of accessing the franchise was not just simply land-based in an independent kind of, so-called, objective format.  It was actually based upon the vicissitudes of an assessor who would therefore come and assess your property...

SR. COUNSEL:
Yeah.

WITNESS:

...at a given rate as well, too...which also affected the franchise.

SR. COUNSEL:
So, effectively it was a form of gerrymandering in Bermuda.

WITNESS:

Yes, we can say that.  Yes.  But again, there’d be the challenge of using that language, you're right, it's gerrymandering in effect; however, it operates under an entire legal framework.  You know, so it's not, you know, someone, you know, pulling on the strings, it's literally someone utilising the structures which were put in place at the point of emancipation in order to, kind of, effect these kinds of disproportionate political outcomes.

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.  But at the end of the day, you do have an assembly...

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
...their debates are open, that is to say that there's a Hansard or whatever Bermuda used for a Hansard.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
Am I correct?

WITNESS:

Say that again.  Repeat that statement again.

SR. COUNSEL:
There are records of the debates...

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
... and those are available to the press?

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
And they are published in the newspapers of the day?

WITNESS:

Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
So, what would distinguish, say, Bermuda in the 1920s even from a country such as the Soviet Union is a level of transparency that would not exist in a dictatorship.

WITNESS:

Yes.  In terms of utilising the Soviet Union as your point of reference; however, when we circle back to, I think it's the language that you raised, this idea of aristocracy, what we've got to appreciate about Bermuda is, even though you have these formalised channels which are ostensibly open channels of governance, once again identified by people like Manning, identified by people like Walton Brown in his book but also, in particular identified by, you know, to some degree by Major Dill...Major T.M. Dill, who was the acting Attorney General during this period that we're discussing.  

I've uploaded an article by him where he talks about Bermuda's franchise, laws of Bermuda's laws and franchise.  I believe he makes reference to – is that, for one, you've got the very open-end elements that you've made reference to, Counsel Whitehall, but also you've got, at operation, the interpersonal relationships which many of these as, to use your term, aristocracy members engage in.  

So, for example, you can have a decision which really gets decided, or discussed, in pure detail at a social club, if they are all members of the same boating club.  If they are all the same members of maybe the same, for example, Masons, Freemasons, etc.  You know, if these men largely congregate in a number of social spaces outside of the formal halls of the House of Assembly or outside of the executive council their decisions can be informed by these informal contacts so that when they come together you're very surprised to see very short debates about ideas which might be far more complex, right, or issues that are quite complex.  

So, to your point about aristocracy, that is a hallmark of aristocracy, whether you find it in Europe or you find it in Bermuda.  And colloquially speaking, that's kind of why people talk about the oligarchy here in Bermuda, right?  It might not go by the name of an aristocracy but when folks reference this idea of an oligarchy, that's really what's being referenced, the ways in which these communities of powerful men have spaces whereby they discuss Bermuda's political issues outside of the formal halls of government.  

And, so that when they come back to the formal halls of government, they already had the discussion at the yacht club on the weekend or while they were playing golf and therefore the decision is largely framed out and all they really got to do is go through the formalities of governance.  But the kind of intricate personal decisions and deeper debates might have actually been thrashed out in other spaces, right?

SR. COUNSEL:
But the point of it all is though, however the policies floated up to the assembly...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
Okay?  Whether it was through the public service or civil service...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... or among members of the assembly via informal discussions...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... at the end of the day what you end up with is a piece of legislation passed by the assembly.

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
And as long as that legislation is passed, that becomes the law of the land.

WITNESS:

Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
Okay.  So, provided...you understand the concept of rule of law?

WITNESS:

Please elaborate.

SR. COUNSEL:
Provided you are a country that is governed by the law rather than anarchy or thuggeries or extra-judicial executions, if you are a country of law when the legislature speaks and passes the law...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... you tend not to go behind how the legislature came to the conclusion it came to except that that is the law.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm, mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
Am I correct?

WITNESS:

Yes.  Yeah, that concept of rule of law makes sense to me.  And yes, that's valid.

SR. COUNSEL:
So in the context of Bermuda, it would have been the House of Assembly and that or the legislative assembly...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... that was the lawmaker, at least domestically, for Bermuda.  Am I correct?

WITNESS:

Yeah.  Yes, you have this operation of the House of Assembly.  You have, of course, the Legislative Council and, of course, the Executive Council which is a kind of quasi-cabinet formed by the...

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

WITNESS:

...Governor.  So, you had these structures to make...

SR. COUNSEL:
Yeah.

WITNESS:

... domestic policy and law.  So yes, to your...

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

WITNESS:

... point.

SR. COUNSEL:
But the Executive Council executes whatever law...

WITNESS:

Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
... the legislative assembly established.

WITNESS:

Yes.  To...

SR. COUNSEL:
And that's much the same as any other democracy.  You have the public service or civil service, which is the executive.  And then you have the legislature that is the law-making body of the State.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
Fair enough?

WITNESS:

Yes, makes sense to me.  Thank you.

SR. COUNSEL:
All right.  Well, now, let's move on.  Let me ask you, what was the gross domestic product of Bermuda…
WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
...in the 1920s?  Can you assist?

WITNESS:

Gross domestic product of Bermuda?  I do not have a figure off the top for you right now, sir. I do not – hold on for a moment.
SR. COUNSEL:
You didn't look into that as part of your research for this paper?

WITNESS:

No, not necessarily.  I did not.  I believe...

SR. COUNSEL:
What do you mean not necessarily.  Did you or did you not?

WITNESS:

Oh, no, sir.  No, sir, I did not look up Bermuda's gross domestic product for 1920.  No, sir, I do not have that.

SR. COUNSEL:
And can you advise what were the goods and services produced by Bermuda, again talking post World War I?

WITNESS:

Goods and services produced by Bermuda, you have what they call a green vegetable, or they have export agriculture which is one of their/our product basis.  You have people shipping everything from celery to onions, potatoes, arrowroot and other products, cassava more so for a local audience but definitely arrowroot for the making of starch, etc., and those were largely taken to U.S. markets.  

You have the coaling and refueling and working on naval ships and ships that would come through the naval dockyard.  You have that element as well in play in Bermuda.  Of course, you have very much a local fishing and/or agriculture industry.  The local agricultural products were everything from cassava to other kind of green vegetables for local consumption, as well as fishing for local consumption.  

So that is a market which is in the works as well as you have the tourism industry as well too, the tourist industry.  Because the Trade Development Board which governed both export agriculture as well as tourism was formed just prior to the British Empire getting into World War I so that formed, Trade Development Board was formed in 1913.  So...

SR. COUNSEL:
So...

WITNESS:

...tourism, agriculture and working largely with naval vessels and/or vessels which are coming through the island.

SR. COUNSEL:
So then, to the extent, wealth was created for Bermuda as a whole.  What was the economic driver for Bermuda as a whole?  And I tried to distinguish...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... between sustenance economy...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... which, essentially, people just getting by...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... on some of the produce they produce in their small garden or...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
… piece of land...

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
... as opposed to wealth that is created for the country as a whole.  So, what were the economic drivers?

WITNESS:

This is a moment of transition.  The economic drivers are:  Largely you have agriculture, you have working with the Royal Naval Dockyard and the ships.  For example, as we mentioned, as well as you have tourism.  During the war period, of course, tourism takes a decline.  Tourism, of course, is reduced because of travel context of a wartime situation, limited travel from the U.S. and/or Canada and other places, for visitors who would just be coming here socially or recreationally.  

However, you also see a push during World War I period for more domestic production.  For one, obviously, that's based around concerns during the war itself.  So, you have the formation of an agricultural union and you have more self-production in agriculture here in Bermuda.  But also, you know, that's, of course, tied into trying to resume agriculture at the end of the war.  

So, those three sectors are still the major sectors of Bermuda.  One, agriculture; two, tourism; three, working with vessels at the dock yard and/or provisioning for, you know, the garrisons which are stationed at Prospect and other places around the island.  Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
And fair to say, as I'm advised, that the agricultural part of the economy declined during and after World War I?

WITNESS:

Most specifically declined after World War I, that's where you really see, you can kind of start to mark off some decline in the industry, most definitely.  I make a note of that in the report somewhere.  I talk about the acres which were being planted in the 19 teens up to the 1920s falling off during the 1920s and then falling off again significantly in the 1940s, I believe.  Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
And, in part, that's driven by the lack of demand...

WITNESS:

Well, here's the...

SR. COUNSEL:
... external to Bermuda.

WITNESS:

Yes and no.  Right?  Yes and no.  Here's the challenges.  You have, for example, not necessarily just lack of demand or complications of demand because at this time you have various...it's a time when these two industries – and by these two industries, I'm thinking about tourism and agriculture - they're very much challenging one another for who's going to get the majority of the Assembly's attention to see, once again, like all businesses you get a return based on what you invest into them, right?  

And you have a very interesting set of debates and discussions in 1913 between the agricultural forces of Bermuda, vis-à-vis the tourism forces of Bermuda, right, the men who were interested or had an economic interest in tourism, vis-à-vis the men who had economic interests in agriculture.  

And one of the things, I know I quoted in the report somewhere, you have one of the members of Colonial Parliament - Zuill, I believe - E.F. Zuill, and he makes a comment and criticises and says, you know, something, I see we're here, and this is in 1913 when they're debating the foundation of the Trade Development Board and he makes a comment, he says listen, I see we're trying to set up this Trade Development Board but I don't want the interests essentially of agriculture to be left behind because I see the men who are forming this Trade Development Board, some of them are very much interested in tourism.  

Yes, so when we talk about the decline of agriculture in Bermuda we cannot over naturalise it to simply say, well, the folks in America didn't want, you know, to purchase Bermuda's products or the folks elsewhere, Canada and other markets, did not want to purchase Bermuda's products.  We need to think about the ways in which there was some local political decisions which lessen the intensity of the push behind agriculture, which agriculture we may have seen earlier on.  Does that make sense?

SR. COUNSEL:
Yes.  And but fair to say, at the end of the day, what they were trying to do is maximise profit for Bermuda.  There may have been different views how to maximise the gross economic product of Bermuda; those who were in agriculture would have argued that that was the route.  Those who thought tourism was your answer would have tried to develop the tourist industry.  So, like always, there's a debate between various parts of the economy.

WITNESS:

Here's the thing.  I guess that's why I would maybe challenge that a little bit, Counsel.  While it's easy to set it within this macro-economic framework, I want to return you back to this idea of aristocracy, or oligarchy, which you mentioned.  

Unfortunately, what you're speaking about is an idea that is framed within a notion of a representative kind of idea.  Yes, a representative political state, whereas Bermuda is not necessarily a representative political state.  It is largely men working in interest to their own kind of personalised interest.  And with that point, I want us to think through the ways in which many times government policy is yet another playing field for them to articulate their personalistic aims and interests.  

So, while something might have a default benefit to others in Bermuda, by and large it might not have been passed with the intent to default benefit all 20,000 people living in Bermuda in 1920.  It's largely passed to benefit themselves, their particular class and whichever group of, to use tourism, group of foreigners they might have been catering too.  However, we cannot necessarily always say that this is surely an economic discussion which is being worked out for the benefit of Bermuda.  

When we put ourselves within the mindsets through looking at the comments that some of these individuals make, when we put ourselves into their mindset and figure out how we get to the end of the day historically, we see that these individuals are making a lot of decisions which are based around personalistic interests.  

And if, by default, they benefit Bermuda, thumbs up.  And sometimes in order to get their way, they will argue as if their personalistic position is really a broader:  Oh, this benefits everyone.  When you actually look at the document trail and their own comments, you see that it's largely based around their own agendas, right, to that point.  But the document...

SR. COUNSEL:
I take what you're saying, but if you eliminate, for example, say that you eliminate tourism from Bermuda?  As of 1920 you say no more tourism, well that would certainly affect part of what you call the oligarchy.  But I suggest to you, it will also affect others.

WITNESS:

Oh, most definitely.  No one said that these things are not mutually exclusive.  We want to … what I was speaking about was the actual drivers of the reasons, not necessarily the fall out of the reasons.  Does that make sense?  That that's kind of just...

SR. COUNSEL:
It does but to the extent that the economic power is, as you say, concentrated in a relatively few families, effectively they determine how the economy of Bermuda will benefit.  And if they make the right decisions, albeit immediately it's for their own benefit...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... everybody else benefits.  And if they make the wrong decision, then they lose, and everybody loses as well.

WITNESS:

Here's the challenge with that.  While that might be a kind of macro-economic framing, you have examples for... during the war, for example, righ?  You had the Bermuda American steamship come... this is something I did for my dissertation so it's not speaking to, you know, this...

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

WITNESS:

...so I don't want to...you have examples whereby it was a steamship known as the Charybdis I think it is.  C-H-A-R-Y-B-D-I-S, Charybdis steam ship and you have a number of elite Bermudians, they spend tens of thousands of pounds in order to kind of float this idea of still maintaining what was, I believe it was, a decommissioned battleship and they were going to refurnish it and make it kind of a tourist luxury ship and it turned out to be a failed project at the end of the day, right?  Turned out...

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

WITNESS:

... to be a failed project.  However, they invested tens of thousands of dollars not only of their own money but in part some of the Bermuda Government's money chasing this idea that was largely built around the kind of economic imperatives of men who wanted to try and maintain tourism during this era when tourism really was not the best of options to pursue.  

So to your point, while I appreciate your point and I'm not necessarily trying to say it's absolutely false, all I want to do is introduce nuance to that, to say that some of these decisions that are being made by Bermuda's aristocracy... or the word I would use is oligarchy, as being used by other historians of Bermuda...a lot of these decisions are being made, not on fiscal responsibility and what's going to be best for the whole of Bermuda, they’re making decisions to see what's going to be best for them and their immediate class.  And if a benefit derives from there for everyone else, that's good but that's not the primary driver by reason of how they're making some of these decisions.

SR. COUNSEL:
But, sir, isn't that always the case when the State does not own the means of production?  When you rely on a merchant and industrial class to create wealth by definition that merchant and industrial class is going to make investments, sometimes winning, sometimes losing; and to the extent possible, they will try to use the resources of the State as a subsidy.  Under what you’re describing, I suggest to you, is it the normal way and non-totalitarian and non-Communist State functions.

WITNESS:

To your point, I think that broad stroke is correct but, once again, we're just dealing with what are the specific motivations; but I don't want to lose your point and see... and feel like I'm arguing with the basic principle.  I believe you are correct in the basic principle.  All I'm trying to do is introduce some nuance to say that, in the context of Bermuda, in 1920, for example you have got roughly 20,000 people in the island.  However, the electorate only represents maybe, what, about 1,400 – less than 1,500 people.  

You know, looking at the political franchise, Bermuda has an electorate of 1,400 and some odd.  So, it's like who they feel responsible to is, for one, in terms of their political positions.  There’s a very tightly circumscribed group.  Second of all, once again, the tradition of being an aristocracy, as you mentioned earlier, has conditioned them socially and politically to kind of just act in the interest of their own class.  

And while I feel that that's a broader idea that, yes, we can say it's common to a lot of different places, we have to look at the specifics of Bermuda to see that if they make a decision that might be widely unpopular but they believe it's working for their particular class, they exist within a political eco system whereby they pay very little price or stand to pay very little price for the electorate's displeasure.  

You see what I mean.  And I think that might...

SR. COUNSEL:
I hear...

WITNESS:

...introduce...

SR. COUNSEL:
...what you say and, of course, the world is more complicated when you have a country of 20,000 people which is somewhat smaller than some neighbourhoods in some other countries.

WITNESS:

But also, an electorate that represents not even that whole 20,000, right?  An electorate that doesn't even represent half of that 20,000 or even a quarter of that 20,000, right?  

So again, the political fallout for making a self-interested decision is different from operating within a political eco system or a political system whereby that franchise is expanded and largely expanded outside of one's own kind of class interest and/or group.

SR. COUNSEL:
And incidentally, that class stratification...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... while I appreciate that that certainly for the most part excluded people of colour...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
...but it also excluded, I suggest, white people or Portuguese?
WITNESS:

Oh, most definitely.  Yes, sir.

SR. COUNSEL:
It was simply the way as of that moment Bermuda was organised...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
...on a social economic basis.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
All right.  Well, let's move on.  Now, we were talking about the industries in Bermuda and you told me there were essentially three big drivers.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
The naval business or refueling of, I guess, cruise ships and other ships.

WITNESS:

Yeah, working with the navy dockyard.  Working with the navy dockyard all...

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

WITNESS:

...the military action that would be related to that.

SR. COUNSEL:
And you said agriculture.

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.  Export agriculture, yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
And then tourism of one kind or another.

WITNESS:

Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
Okay.  Now, in terms of agriculture, where was the centre of agriculture that – and again, let's draw a distinction between sustenance agriculture...

WITNESS:

Right.

SR. COUNSEL:
... and agriculture that creates products in excess of your personal needs, either for the domestic or international market.

WITNESS:

Right.

SR. COUNSEL:
So, what was... where were the agricultural centres of Bermuda in the 1920s, or 1919?

WITNESS:

Oh yes.  Exactly.  Good point, good point.  When we think about agricultural centres for example to our point, Tucker's Town is an agricultural centre.  I mentioned in the report that they had organised, I believe it was, they had organised a branch of the agricultural union, the agricultural union and that was a local organisation which sought to increase agricultural productivity and production across the island.  

You have parts of the island, such as Devonshire, which was an agricultural centre – a lot of farms there.  You also have, as I mentioned...

SR. COUNSEL:
Let's just stop for a minute, okay?  Because I'll come to that union in a minute.

WITNESS:

Okay, yes sir.

SR. COUNSEL:
But I just wanted to take a snapshot...

WITNESS:

Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
... okay?  If I am a visitor from Mars and I want to understand, it's …you probably think I am being a Canadian...

WITNESS:

No, no, no.

SR. COUNSEL:
... but I want to understand where the commercial agriculture 

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... and by the commercial I mean, either for the domestic market...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... or for export market...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... where does that come from?  When I look at Bermuda, the islands...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... where do I find the centre of agriculture, where its purpose is to produce for the market?
WITNESS:

Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
And I'm asking that question based... and I'm going to ask you to point me to the primary evidence...

WITNESS:

Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
... that supports your statements.  And I don't think the fact that they organize a union, necessarily...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... supports how much they produce.

WITNESS:

Ah.  To your point.  Valid point.

SR. COUNSEL:
So, what I'm asking is, what do we find in terms of actual production?

WITNESS:

In terms of actual production?  I'll just pull up something real quick.  You have, as I was mentioning, you do have production in the east end, you have production in Devonshire, sir.

SR. COUNSEL:
Where is it?

WITNESS:

You have...

SR. COUNSEL:
When you say east end, what do you mean by that?

WITNESS:

East, oh, sorry.  As I was mentioning Tucker's Town is a site for agricultural production.  You have reflections on Tucker's Town and the amount of crates of onions and other products that were coming out of there.  I have a document to show you that I believe it’s 1953, someone was making a reflection on that.  In terms of...

SR. COUNSEL:
1953?

WITNESS:

No, no, no.  Yeah.  It was a mention, that's what I'm just making a point to it.  It was a Royal Gazette article that makes mention of the agricultural productivity of Tucker's Town.  In a Royal Gazette March 8, 1953, that is document 15, I believe, TT15.

SR. COUNSEL:
15?

WITNESS:

Yes.  Document...

SR. COUNSEL:
Well let...

WITNESS:

...TT15, they make a reference to that.  

[talking in background, inaudible]

WITNESS:

E.F. Zuill as well – I believe, E.F. Zuill - there's a document that is listed down there from New York.  Where is that document?  It is in the New York Times and it talks about E.F. Zuill as a major celery producer and he was in New York trying to find more shipping for Bermuda and talking about the amount of crate space that they would require.

SR. COUNSEL:
And where was that?

WITNESS:

Yes.  That's in the...

SR. COUNSEL:
Where was his farm?

WITNESS:

His farm, I believe, was in Devonshire, sir.  I believe his farm was in Devonshire.

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

WITNESS:

Yeah.  His farm's in Devonshire.  And, again, Zuill was there with a number of other folks who were in... yeah, he's quoted as one of the largest growers of celery in terms of Bermuda’s celery crop.  You have a man by the name of G.E. Winter, of course, he represented the Green Growers Association, etc., etc., but that's not the types of statistics that you're referencing.  

But those are just two documents that I reference and the New York Times' article that I'm making reference of, Document TT46, it does discuss the ways in which a steamer with chill rooms for about 175 persons with chill room accommodations equal to about 10,000 standard onion crates or green vegetables and able to make the voyage between New York and St.  George’s in about 53 hours, etc., etc.  

And this was one of the things that the business community in Bermuda – and this was the delegation of which E.F. Zuill was one of the members – was discussing that one of the things that they felt they needed in order to maintain the island's agricultural productivity.  So, at least that level of storage...

SR. COUNSEL:
So, let me just...

WITNESS:

...or more.

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.  So, let me just unpeel that if I may, not to use a pun.

WITNESS:

Yeah.

SR. COUNSEL:
Firstly, you say you rely on an article...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... in a newspaper...

WITNESS:

Yes, sir.

SR. COUNSEL:
... from 1953.

WITNESS:

Well, that was just one of the references...

SR. COUNSEL:
Oh.

WITNESS:

...that I made...

SR. COUNSEL:
But what I want...

WITNESS:

...in terms of what we talked abou.

SR. COUNSEL:
...you to do is point me...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... to some primary documents...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... that demonstrate the level of agricultural production.  And by primary documents, I'm not talking about some newspapermen...

WITNESS:

Right.

SR. COUNSEL:
... making mention of what he or she believed was true because there, sir, we are dealing with triple and possibly quadruple hearsay.

WITNESS:

Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
I'm asking you:  Can you point me to some income tax return, vitals... not vitals, but archival document...

WITNESS:

Mm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... production record.

WITNESS:

Yes, okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
Basically, hard source documents that I could analyse...

WITNESS:

Mm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... and say, okay, here is the total agricultural commercial production of Bermuda...

WITNESS:

Mm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... and this is the portion that is created in Devonshire, here is the portion that is created in Somerset...

WITNESS:

Mm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... and here is the portion that is created in Tucker's Town.  So,...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... how can I zero in?

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
What are your documents that demonstrate the hard facts as of …

WITNESS:

Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
... let's say 1920.

WITNESS:

Okay.  Yes.  Good point.  Good question, Counsel.  Good question and...

CHAIRWOMAN:
Counsel, at a convenient point, we'll take the luncheon break for an hour and a half.  I'll leave it to you …

SR. COUNSEL:
Right.

CHAIRWOMAN:
... to say when but it seems to me that this may be a nice point.

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you.  Well, we're getting there so let's just see...

CHAIRWOMAN:
Okay.

WITNESS:

Yeah.  Just to re... no, to reply to your comment, yes.  

CHAIRWOMAN:
I should also mention, Counsel, that Mr. Swan would like to have a word with you.  So, during the break, if you'll make contact, please?
SR. COUNSEL:
Right.  So Dr. Francis, where are the, as I say, the hardcore documents which...

WITNESS:

Yes.  In terms...

SR. COUNSEL:
... may have informed the newspaper man...

WITNESS:

Yes.  As a...

SR. COUNSEL:
… for his conclusion?

WITNESS:

Yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
How do I get to that?

WITNESS:

Yes.  I'm seeing if I can pull that up right now, Counsel.

SR. COUNSEL:
Well, where is it in your...

WITNESS:

To your point.

SR. COUNSEL:
... report?

WITNESS:

Oh.  In reference to my report, I do... let me see if I make reference to that.  

No, I do not make reference to that in terms of the body of the report, Counsel.  I do not.  I make reference by reason of other sources, but I do not use the kind of source that you are making reference to sir, no.

SR. COUNSEL:
So, reading your report, basically, I have what you've read in the newspapers?

WITNESS:

Yes.  Mostly, yeah.  That's really what I use to substantiate some of those statements, yes, sir.

SR. COUNSEL:
Well, I found a lot of newspaper articles and I don't know about you, sir, but I don't always believe in what I read in the newspapers.  I prefer to go to the source and determine...

WITNESS:

Exactly.

SR. COUNSEL:
... whether or not I can check and double check what the...

WITNESS:

Most definitely.

SR. COUNSEL:
...newspaperman says.  So, reading your report, frankly, I’ve found – I had the impression – that I had a lot of newspapers, like a clipping service.

WITNESS:

Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
And in terms of agriculture, I'm asking, can you point me to some source – and,  by source documents, again, I don't mean an analysis by some...

WITNESS:

Right.

SR. COUNSEL:
... inspector.  

WITNESS:

Right.

SR. COUNSEL:
I mean primary documents that one would examine and conclude how much of the commercial agriculture originated in Bermuda and then compare that to how much of the commercial agriculture originated in what we know as Tucker's Town.

WITNESS:

Yes.  Good point.  Good point.  That type of documentation would be found more than likely in the blue books and that's something I’m sure I looked at during my dissertation work but in terms of this report, I don't believe I have included that in this report.  And that was part of the reason why I might have just relied on those other sources that you characterise in the way you characterise by reason of the fact that I guess I have background - not even I guess – I have background on looking at that information.  However, if need be, I can produce those types of sources and share that with the Counsel, but I guess in this timeframe that might be challenging since it was not created in the report.

SR. COUNSEL:
All right.  Well, why don't we... so based on your report, fair to say...

WITNESS:

Mm-hmm.

SR. COUNSEL:
... I cannot fairly analyse how much commercial agriculture came from Tucker's Town as opposed to other parts of the island.
WITNESS:

Yeah, in terms of using the standard that you are reflecting on, Counsel, yes, I think that's fair to say.  I wouldn't say that you cannot know at all; however, just in terms of the parameters that you define, using those parameters, probably not.  But in terms of just broadly speaking, yes.

SR. COUNSEL:
Well, if I ignore newspapers...

WITNESS:

Right.

SR. COUNSEL:
... I cannot tell, I cannot analyse who produced what as of 1920.

WITNESS:

Exactly.  To your point.

SR. COUNSEL:
Thank you.  Justice, that would be a convenient time, I think.

CHAIRWOMAN;  
Thank you, Counsel.  We will rise now, and the break will be for one and a half hours.  And...

SR. COUNSEL:
All right.

CHAIRWOMAN:
... please be reminded that Mr. Swan would like to have a word with you, Counsel.

SR. COUNSEL:
I do.  But Justice, may I mention, I know it is quarter past 12:00 in Bermuda.  It will be quarter past 10:00 for Dr. Francis.  

CHAIRWOMAN:
Ah.

SR. COUNSEL:
Perhaps a touch too early for lunch.  

WITNESS:

Work with you.

SR. COUNSEL:
And maybe a brunch but certainly not lunch.  So, I kind of wonder whether or not we should maybe extend the lunch break to two hours.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Okay.

SR. COUNSEL:
So, to bring him a bit closer to his real lunch hour, which is still only about 12:
00 o'clock, I guess.
CHAIRWOMAN:
That would accommodate you, Dr. Francis?

WITNESS:

Yeah, that's fine.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Extend it to two hours?
WITNESS:

Chief Justice Wade Miller.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Okay.  Thank you.  So, two hours then, we'll take a break for two hours and then we'll resume promptly after two hours.  

WITNESS:

Um...

CHAIRWOMAN:
Thank you so much.  Yes?  

WITNESS:

Quick question.  How do I relaunch my Zoom?  Do I just leave the screen up?  Do I... ?
CHAIRWOMAN:
I think the technicians will...

SR. COUNSEL:
I think we're probably going to do invitation...

CHAIRWOMAN:
...leave this up...

 SR. COUNSEL:
...but I don't know.

JR. COUNSEL:
Dr. Francis, they're indicating...

WITNESS:

Yes.

JR. COUNSEL:
  ... as technicians, that you'll just use the same link.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Just leave things the way...

WITNESS:

Okay.

CHAIRWOMAN:
...they are.  Okay?

WITNESS:

Okay.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Thank you so much.

WITNESS:

Thank you.

JR. COUNSEL:
 No problem.

SR. COUNSEL:
So, we don't leave the meeting?  Mr. Swan?

WITNESS:

Leave the meeting but just relog back in with the same link …

CHAIRWOMAN:
Yes.

WITNESS:

... as this morning, correct?

CHAIRWOMAN:
Indeed.

SR. COUNSEL:
I guess.

[talking over each other, inaudible]

JR. COUNSEL:
  Yes, that's fine.  That is correct.  Yes, just speaking with the technicians, that's correct.

SR. COUNSEL:
All right.

WITNESS:

Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Furtado.  Thank you, Counsel Swan.  Thank you, Counsel Whitehall.  Thank you, Chief Justice Wade Miller.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Not Chief Justice.

WITNESS:

I can log off?

SR. COUNSEL:
Yes.  And I'll see you in two hours.

WITNESS:

Yes.  Thank you.

CHAIRWOMAN:
Thank you so much.  

LUNCH BREAK FOR 2 HOURS 
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